IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

MCGUIRE HOLDINGS LTD.,

Supreme Court No. 83638

Appellant,

District Court Case NE! PCS 12079 | Cally Filed Feb 15 2022 03:48 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

BETFRED INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS, LTD.,

Respondent.

APPEAL

Appeal From the Judgment Entered by the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Nancy Allf, District Judge District Court Case No. A-21-827937-B

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 8276 MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESO. Nevada Bar No. 8215

AKERMAN LLP

1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 Telephone: (702) 634-5000 Attorneys for McGuire Holdings, Ltd.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

NRAP 3A(b)(1) provides that an appeal may be taken if a final judgment is entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered. In this case, on September 16, 2021, the Eighth Judicial District Court, through the Honorable Judge Nancy Allf, entered a final judgment of a dismissal with prejudice. 1 App. 180–88.

The Notice of Appeal was timely filed. The written Notice of Entry of the final Order or Judgment was entered on September 16, 2021, (1 App. 180–88) and the Notice of Appeal was filed on October 13, 2021, (1 App. 189–91) well within the 30-day filing requirement as set forth in NRAP 4(a)(1).

This matter qualifies as an appeal from a final order of judgment pursuant to the requirements of NRAP 3A(b)(1) since the Order of Dismissal entered on September 16, 2021, is a final judgment with no further proceedings to be contemplated in the district court. Accordingly, jurisdiction is properly vested in either the Nevada Supreme Court or the Nevada Court of Appeals.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9) because this case originated in business court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In deciding a defendant's motion to dismiss, does the district court err by not resolving factual disputes in plaintiff's favor when plaintiff submits sufficient proffers of evidence?
- 2. Can a Nevada court exercise personal jurisdiction over the Respondent in this case where the Plaintiff is a victim of a breach of contract involving a casino in Las Vegas?
- 3. Does a district court err by dismissing a complaint "with prejudice" based on an alleged lack of personal jurisdiction over the defendants?

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Appellant, McGuire Holdings, Ltd. ("McGuire"), filed this lawsuit for breach of contract, quantum meruit/implied contract, and promissory estoppel against Betfred International Holdings, Ltd. ("Betfred"). 1 App. 1–15.

This case arises from a well-known foreign corporation taking advantage of McGuire's relationships and hard work. Betfred is a bookmaker based in the United Kingdom that operates brick and mortar betting shops and online casinos. 1 App. 94. Anxious to expand its business in the United States, Betfred wanted to become the sportsbook operator for casinos owned or operated by the Mohegan Lacking connections with the Mohegan Tribe, Betfred Tribe. 1 App. 71. contracted with McGuire for assistance. 1 App. 71–72. The parties entered into a written agreement that created binding obligations on them, including the obligation to enter into a full form agreement to share revenue, wherein Betfred would pay ten percent (10%) of the gross revenues it received from the Mohegan Tribe casinos if McGuire could help Betfred become the sportsbook operator for any of the Mohegan Tribe's casinos (the "Mohegan Tribe Deal"). 1 App. 72, 77– 79. After McGuire spent more than a year dutifully fulfilling its obligations by connecting Betfred with high ranking members of the Mohegan Tribe, Betfred informed McGuire that any deal with the Mohegan Tribe was dead. 1 App. 73–74.

Understandably, McGuire was stunned when it later learned that Betfred became the sportsbook operator for the new Virgin Hotels Casino in Las Vegas—a casino operated by none other than the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 74–75. Without McGuire's efforts, Betfred would never have been able to secure the Virgin Hotels Casino sportsbook deal with the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 75. Yet, when the time for Betfred's performance arose, it refused to compensate McGuire in accordance with the agreement. 1 App. 76. So, McGuire sued Betfred in Nevada.

On March 15, 2021, Betfred filed a Motion to Dismiss McGuire's First Amended Complaint for an alleged lack of personal jurisdiction. 1 App. 19–49. McGuire timely responded (1 App. 50–138) and Betfred replied (1 App. 139–56). Both parties attached affidavits. 1 App. 35–39; 71–76.

After a hearing in open court on May 12, 2021, the court took the matter under advisement. On September 16, 2021, the district court entered a written Order dismissing the case. 1 App. 180–88. Although the parties' affidavits conflicted, the district court refused to resolve factual disputes in McGuire's favor—instead it accepted Betfred's version of the facts as true—and entirely ignored the personal jurisdictional analysis in dismissing the entirety of McGuire's First Amended Complaint "with prejudice" pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2). 1 App. 180–88.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Betfred, founded in North England, owns and operates more than 1,500 betting shops in the United Kingdom and bills itself as a best in class online casino and betting product in the United Kingdom and Spain. 1 App. 94.
- 2. Betfred claims to be a subsidiary of Betfred Group Limited ("Betfred Group"). 1 App. 35.
- 3. Betfred is currently a licensed sportsbook operator in Iowa, Pennsylvania, and Colorado. At the time of filing the lawsuit, Betfred's Nevada license was currently pending regulatory approval. 1 App. 93–94.
- 4. McGuire was founded by Peter Hutchinson ("Hutchinson"). Hutchinson had connections with Betfred, including Betfred's Chief Executive Officer Mark Stebbings ("Stebbings") and Betfred's Trading Director Craig Reid ("Reid"). 1 App. 71.
- 5. As a result of his connections with Betfred, Hutchinson understood that Betfred was seeking to expand its operations in the United States and was looking for inroads with casino operators, including the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 71.
- 6. Betfred, however, did not have the necessary contacts with the Mohegan Tribe to successfully pursue the Mohegan Tribe Deal. McGuire, on the other hand, did have the requisite relationships with the Mohegan Tribe to help

Betfred become the sportsbook operator for casinos owned or operated by the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 71.

- 7. One of Hutchinson's longtime associates and friends is Sherman Brown ("Brown"). Brown is a successful businessman who mostly works with current and former NBA players to find and negotiate promising investments. 1 App. 4, 71.
- 8. Brown has connections with the Mohegan Tribe, including the former Chairman of the Mohegan Tribe Council, Kevin Brown ("Kevin Brown"), the Chief Marketing Officer, David Martinelli ("Martinelli"), and its Vice President of Interactive Gaming, Aviram Alroy ("Alroy"). 1 App. 71.
- 9. In June of 2017, McGuire approached Betfred to see if it would be interested in becoming the sportsbook betting and wagering operator for any of the Mohegan Tribe casinos. 1 App. 71.
- 10. In exchange for helping Betfred become the sportsbook operator for the Mohegan Tribe casinos, Betfred and McGuire agreed to enter into a full form agreement customary for a share of Betfred's revenue with McGuire, wherein Betfred would pay McGuire ten percent (10%) of the gross revenues Betfred received from any sportsbook it operated for the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 71–72.
- 11. On July 10, 2018, Betfred and McGuire entered into a Letter of Intent (the "Agreement") to memorialize the parties' agreement. As set forth in Clause

- 1.2, the terms set forth in Clauses 3 through 8 of the Agreement were intended to create binding obligations on the parties. 1 App. 72, 77–79.
- 12. Additionally, the Agreement is expressly intended to apply to the "Parties group and/or associated companies." 1 App. 77–79 (emphasis added).
- 13. The plain meaning of this term is that the Agreement obligates and binds Betfred, Betfred Group, and any of its subsidiaries. 1 App. 72.
- 14. McGuire's initial efforts centered on Betfred operating the Mohegan Tribe's sportsbook in Connecticut. 1 App. 72.
- 15. The Agreement, however, is not limited to the sportsbook of a specific Mohegan Sun casino, but rather expressly encompasses "sports book betting and wagering services to the US gambling operator Mohegan Sun" (the "Mohegan Sportsbook Services"). 1 App. 78.
- 16. The parties engaged in numerous email communications reflecting their intent that the Agreement applies to all Mohegan Sun Casinos in the United States. 1 App. 72–73. For example, on June 25, 2018, Stebbings, on behalf of Betfred, emailed McGuire stating:

Just so we are clear your consultancy company which is going to source opportunities in the US for Betfred will be paid 10% of the gross revenue percentage we receive (in this case Mohegan Sun).

1 App. 80–81.

17. On July 16, 2018, Brown emailed Hutchinson, Stebbings, and Reid, stating in part:

I'm highly optimistic we'll win [the Connecticut bid]. But if we don't, it's not a failure or ending by any means. In fact, we're just beginning . . .

1 App. 83–86.

18. On August 27, 2018, Stebbings, on behalf of Betfred, emailed McGuire stating:

As discussed on our call on Friday, well done you have done a great job in using your influence with Chairman Brown to give us the opportunity of becoming the tribe's partner of choice.

1 App. 87–88.

- 19. McGuire spent more than a year fulfilling its obligations under the Agreement, including (a) introducing Betfred to the Mohegan Tribe via email, (b) engaging in email and phone call correspondence to facilitate a Betfred and Mohegan Tribe partnership, (c) facilitating multiple in-person meetings between Stebbings, Reid, Kevin Brown, Martinelli, and Alroy in Connecticut and Nevada; and (d) attending the meetings in Connecticut and Nevada with representatives from Betfred and the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 73.
- 20. Specifically, in October of 2018, McGuire, through Hutchinson's direct efforts, secured a meeting in Las Vegas, Nevada between Betfred and the Mohegan Tribe (the "Vegas Meeting") to discuss Betfred obtaining the Mohegan

Sportsbook Services not only in Connecticut, but also in other Mohegan Tribe casinos in the United States. 1 App. 74.

- 21. Hutchinson (on behalf of McGuire), Stebbings and Reid (on behalf of Betfred), and Alroy (on behalf of the Mohegan Tribe) attended the Vegas Meeting. 1 App. 74.
- 22. During this meeting, Alroy informed McGuire and Betfred that Betfred would not be the sportsbook operator for the Mohegan Tribe's Connecticut casino, but that there were opportunities for Betfred to operate in other Mohegan Tribe casinos. 1 App. 74.
- 23. After the Vegas Meeting, Betfred represented to McGuire that negotiations had stalled between Betfred and the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 74.
- 24. Thus, after the Vegas Meeting, McGuire understood Betfred may not be continuing in its pursuit to become the sportsbook operator for the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 74.
- 25. If Betfred wished to continue pursuing that opportunity, it was obligated under the Agreement to use McGuire's services. 1 App. 74.
- 26. Specifically, the Agreement contains a binding exclusivity clause that prohibited Betfred from using any other third-party consultant other than McGuire to obtain the Mohegan Sportsbook Services. 1 App. 79.

- 27. Contrary to its representations and obligations under the Agreement, and unbeknownst to McGuire, Betfred continued to negotiate a deal with the Mohegan Tribe and obtained a third-party consultant, other than McGuire, to obtain the Mohegan Sportsbook Services. 1 App. 74.
- 28. Specifically, in violation of the Agreement's exclusivity clause, Betfred "made a deliberate decision" to obtain a third-party consultant other than McGuire to obtain the Mohegan Sportsbook Services. 1 App. 38.
- 29. Thereafter, Betfred formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Betfred USA Sports LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Betfred USA"). 1 App. 38–39, 75, 94.
- 30. In total, from 2019 to 2020, Betfred formed sixteen (16) Nevada based wholly-owned subsidiaries (the "Subsidiaries"), including:
 - 1) Betfred Sports (Arizona) LLC
 - 2) Betfred Sports (Colorado) LLC
 - 3) Betfred Sports (Indiana), LLC
 - 4) Betfred Sports (Iowa) LLC
 - 5) Betfred Sports (Louisiana) LLC
 - 6) Betfred Sports (Minnesota) LLC
 - 7) Betfred Sports (Nevada) LLC
 - 8) Betfred Sports (Ohio), LLC
 - 9) Betfred Sports (Oregon) LLC
 - 10) Betfred Sports (Pennsylvania) LLC
 - 11) Betfred Sports (South Dakota) LLC
 - 12) Betfred Sports (Virginia), LLC
 - 13) Betfred Sports (Washington), LLC
 - 14) Betfred USA (IP) LLC
 - 15) Betfred USA Sports (Two) LLC
 - 16) Betfred USA Sports LLC

- 1 App. 46–49.
- 31. For each of the Subsidiaries, Stebbings and Nicola Barr ("Barr") are both listed as the Managers with an address in Las Vegas, Nevada. 1 App. 75, 95–131.
- 32. Stebbings and Barr are directors of both Betfred and Betfred Group. 1 App. 38–39, 75, 132–36.
- 33. Betfred created the Subsidiaries in order to further Betfred's business in the United States, more specifically, to obtain the Mohegan Sportsbook Services. 1 App. 38–39.
- 34. Betfred USA's website advertises that it was created by Betfred Group and conducts the same sportsbook services as its parent company. 1 App. 94. At the time the lawsuit was filed, Betfred USA's website further stated that it was pending regulatory approval to operate in Nevada. 1 App. 94.
- 35. Betfred's representations to McGuire turned out to be false, as Betfred subsequently became the sportsbook operator for the new Virgin Hotel Casino in Las Vegas (the "Virgin Hotel Casino"), which is operated by the Mohegan Tribe. 1 App. 75.
- 36. On July 17, 2020, Brown received a text message from Kevin Brown, the former Chairman of the Mohegan Tribe Council, congratulating Brown and

McGuire for securing the sportsbook services for Betfred at the Virgin Hotel Casino. 1 App. 75, 137–38.

- 37. This was the first time McGuire learned that Betfred would become the sportsbook operator for the Virgin Hotel Casino and that Betfred had cut McGuire out of the deal in breach of the Agreement. 1 App. 75.
- 38. Betfred claims its wholly owned subsidiary Betfred Sports (Nevada) LLC ("Betfred Nevada") obtained the Mohegan Sportsbook Services at the Virgin Hotel Casino. 1 App. 39.
- 39. Betfred would not have been able to secure the Mohegan Sportsbook Services at the Virgin Hotel Casino without McGuire's efforts to introduce and facilitate the Betfred and Mohegan Tribe partnership. 1 App. 75.
- 40. After becoming the sportsbook service provider for the Virgin Hotel Casino, Betfred failed to enter into good faith negotiations with McGuire for a full form agreement containing such terms and conditions as are customary for a share of Betfred's revenue with McGuire. 1 App. 76.

Based on the totality of the aforementioned facts, McGuire submits that it demonstrated to the district court sufficient "minimum contacts" to justify haling Betfred into a Nevada Court to remedy McGuire's damages.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court should review every issue presented in this case "de novo." In *Baker v. Eight Judicial District Court*, the Nevada Supreme Court held that de novo review is the appropriate standard of review when reviewing whether a district court can exercise personal jurisdiction over a defendant. *Baker v. Eight Judicial District Court*, 116 Nev. 527, 531, 999 P.2d 1020, 1023 (2000). Similarly, in *Slade v. Caesar's Equipment Corp.*, the Nevada Supreme Court held that a dismissal on the merits would be subject to an even more rigorous standard of "de novo review." *Slade v. Caesar's Equipment Corp.*, 132 Nev. 374, 379, 373 P.3d 74, 78 (2016).

IV. SUMMARY OF LEGAL ARGUMENT

The most obvious and egregious error is the district court's decision to eschew well-established precedent and resolve factual disputes in Betfred's favor—not McGuire's—in a proceeding that challenges personal jurisdiction. Indeed, the district court's order is odd in that nearly all of its findings center on its erroneous factual determination that the Agreement was "terminat[ed], in June [of] 2019." This is a disputed fact that has nothing to do with personal jurisdiction. The district court's task was to determine whether McGuire had made a prima facie case for jurisdiction and not base its ruling on the underlying facts of the case.

While it was obvious error for the court to resolve factual disputes in favor of Betfred, the district court's refusal to undertake an analysis of whether Betfred is subject to personal jurisdiction in Nevada is most egregious. Indeed, the district court summarily dismissed the case without any consideration of personal jurisdiction. McGuire established multiple grounds for exercising personal jurisdiction over Betfred in a case where McGuire is a victim of a breach of contract involving a Las Vegas casino. In short, McGuire made a prima facie showing of personal jurisdiction over Betfred due to (a) its own forum-directed activities, (b) through the contacts of Betfred's agents; or (c) through Betfred's alter egos. The district court ducked any review of whether McGuire made a prima facie showing of personal jurisdiction. There is simply no excuse for the court's failure to examine jurisdiction.

Finally, the district court inexplicably dismissed this case with prejudice, meaning that it adjudicated the merits of McGuire's First Amended Complaint, even though the court decided that it had no jurisdiction over Betfred. If the district court did not have jurisdiction over Betfred, then it surely was without jurisdiction to decide the merits of the case.

V. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. The district court erred by not resolving factual disputes in McGuire's favor when McGuire submitted sufficient proffers of evidence.

Since the last century, Nevada courts have followed well-established precedent about resolving factual disputes: "[W]hen factual disputes arise in a proceeding that challenges personal jurisdiction, those disputes must be resolved in favor of the plaintiff." *Levinson v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct. of State In & For Washoe Cty.*, 103 Nev. 404, 407, 742 P.2d 1024, 1026 (1987); *see also Tricarichi v. Coop. Rabobank, U.A.*, 135 Nev. 87, 91, 440 P.3d 645, 649 (2019) ("The court may consider evidence presented through affidavits and must accept properly supported proffers as true and resolve factual disputes in the plaintiff's favor.").

Here, the district court did not adhere to such precedent. Although the parties' affidavits conflicted, the district court refused to resolve factual disputes in McGuire's favor—and, instead, accepted Betfred's version of the facts as true while ignoring personal jurisdiction entirely.

a. The district court erroneously resolved factual disputes in Betfred's favor by finding that the parties did not come to Las Vegas to negotiate at G2E with regard to the contract at issue and that their meeting regarding the Connecticut Sportsbook was merely incidental to the trip.

The parties' affidavits conflicted as to whether the October of 2018 Las Vegas meeting was planned. McGuire's affidavit provided that McGuire secured a meeting in Las Vegas between Betfred and the Mohegan Tribe:

Specifically, in October of 2018, McGuire, through my [Peter Hutchinson's] direct efforts, secured a meeting in Las Vegas, Nevada between Betfred and the Mohegan Tribe (the "Vegas Meeting"). I engaged in email communication with Alroy, of the Mohegan Tribe, to coordinate the Vegas Meeting. For example on October 7, 2018, I emailed Alroy "confirming our meeting at 4:30 at the betfred stand on Tuesday."

1 App. 74.

Betfred's affidavit, by contrast, represented the Nevada location of the October 2018 meeting as simply a fortuitous by-product of its other commitments:

In October 2018, Reid and I [Peter Stebbings] were due to be in the US to attend Global Gaming Expo ("G2E") held in Las Vegas, Nevada. Based on my assumption that this event is regularly attended by representative and executives of the gaming industry, I hoped to use the opportunity to try and get a definitive answer regarding the Connecticut sportsbook bid and to meet Kevin Brown for the first time. Accordingly, I requested to meet with Alroy, both Browns, and Hutchinson at G2E to discuss the Connecticut RFP. That the meeting would occur in Nevada was simply a product of the fact that G2E was occurring in Las Vegas. Nevada had nothing to do with the LOI or our meeting.

1 App. 37.

The district court erred by resolving a factual dispute in Betfred's favor—not McGuire's—when it accepted Betfred's characterization of the Las Vegas Meeting as fortuitous:

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