IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Supreme Court Case No. 83638

Electronically Filed May 02 2022 05:47 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

MCGUIRE HOLDINGS LTD.,

Appellant,

v.

BETFRED INT'L HOLDINGS, LTD.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Nancy Allf, District Judge District Court Case No. A-21-827937-B

> James Pisanelli, Esq., Bar No. 4027 Todd L. Bice, Esq., Bar No. 4534 Jordan T. Smith, Esq., Bar No. 12097 John A. Fortin, Esq., Bar No. 15221 PISANELLI BICE PLLC 400 South 7th Street, Suite 300 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: 702.214.2100

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

McGuire's theory requires this Court to make several logic-defying leaps to conclude that (1) Betfred Int'l severed its ties with McGuire in 2018, (2) created

several U.S. subsidiaries, and (3) obtained gaming licenses in three other states with other entities, all while being omniscient that the Mohegan Sun would eventually obtain the Virgin Hotel & Casino gambling operation, and that Betfred Int'l used its omniscience to then cut McGuire out of the LOI. (*Cf.* AOB at 27.) Simply put, McGuire resorts to fanciful conspiracy theories that are supported by nothing.

Instead of entertaining unsupported rhetoric, this Court should recognize that Betfred Int'l knew the LOI terminated in October 2018 (or at the latest March 2019 when Kambi obtained the Connecticut sportsbook). Thereafter, Betfred Int'l formed its U.S. based subsidiary Betfred USA in June 2019, and its subsidiaries obtained other contracts across the country to build a book of business. After the Mohegan Sun obtained the Virgin Hotel & Casino gaming operation, it invited Betfred USA to submit a competitive bid on its sportsbook, and only when that bid promised a contract for Betfred USA, did it form Betfred Nevada, and Betfred Nevada in fact earned a contract for the Virgin Hotel & Casino sportsbook. (*See* JA0185 ¶ 1(c).). Indeed, just as McGuire's Hutchinson predicted, the Betfred group would likely be successful in the U.S. but it would have nothing to do with McGuire. (*See* JA0045).

Again, McGuire's arguments "merely show the amount of control in a typical parent-subsidiary relationship and thus are insufficient to demonstrate agency." *Viega GmbH*, 130 Nev. at 380, 328 P.3d at 1160. McGuire presented no basis for personal jurisdiction over a U.K. company on any "agency" theory.

c. <u>It is not reasonable to hale Betfred Int'l into Nevada</u> <u>simply because of technological advances</u>

But McGuire's failures to present case law to support personal jurisdiction does not end there. McGuire makes the conclusory assertion that "[o]nce the plaintiff demonstrates the defendant purposefully availed itself of the forum's benefits, the exercise of jurisdiction is presumptively reasonable." (AOB at 32 (citing *Trump*, 109 Nev. at 700-01, 857 P.2d at 749).) McGuire also points to "this era of internet, email, and video-conferencing" to supposedly dispel Betfred Int'l's legitimate and tremendous burden of litigating this U.K. contract dispute in Nevada. (AOB at 35.)

As thoroughly shown above, McGuire failed to meet, or even show, the necessary minimum contacts or purposeful availment to Nevada by Betfred Int'l for any Nevada court to assert personal jurisdiction; thus, the burden does not shift to Betfred Int'l. *See Trump*, 109 Nev. at 700-01, 857 P.2d at 749. While there are a variety of factors to consider under the reasonableness prong, the United States Supreme Court has been explicit that "the primary concern is the burden on the defendant." *Bristol-Meyers Squibb*, 137 S.Ct. at 1780 (quoting *Kulko v. Cali. Superior Ct.*, 436 U.S. 84, 93 (1978)).

Furthermore, the decades-old decision analyzing the burdens of a foreign corporation litigating in a forum in which the forum in question possesses no interest (*i.e.*, the contract is neither governed by Nevada law and neither party is a Nevada

citizen) should produce significant reticence for this Court. See, e.g., Asahi Metal Industry Co., Ltd. v. Superior Ct. of Cali., 480 U.S. 102, 114 (1987) ("The unique burdens placed upon one who must defend oneself in a foreign legal system should have *significant weight* in assessing the reasonableness of stretching the long arm of personal jurisdiction over national borders." (emphasis added); *id.* at 115 ("Because the plaintiff is not a California resident, California's legitimate interests in the dispute have considerably diminished....").

Recall, that this a basic contract dispute governed by U.K. law, between a U.K. and Bahaman Company, with a U.K. choice-of-law provision.⁹ (*See* JA0041-42.) Nevada Courts have no interest in resolving this dispute for a Bahaman company with a principal place of business in Florida and Betfred Int'l being forced to litigate this matter here would be overly burdensome because – and the parties

⁹ McGuire correctly notes the district court's scrivener's error regarding the LOI's choice of law, rather than a forum selection clause. (AOB 32-37; *see also* JA0185 (incorrectly finding that the LOI "included a forum selection clause".) We know this is a scrivener's error because if the LOI truly contained a forum-selection clause, that would have ended the analysis completely and the district court would not have endeavored to document Betfred Int'I's singular contact with Nevada so meticulously. (*See* JA0182-86.) Additionally, this minor mistake does nothing to alter the district court's otherwise detailed factual findings and clear application of the pertinent personal jurisdiction precedents enunciated by this Court and the United States Supreme Court such that this Court need not reverse, and remand. *See Saavedra-Sandoval v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 126 Nev. 592, 599, 245 P.3d 1198, 1202 (2010) (explaining that this Court will affirm a district court's order if the district court's order if the correct result, even if for the wrong reason).

agree – Betfred Int'l only has a "single contact" with Nevada related to the LOI. (AOB at 23.) *see also Asahi*, 480 U.S. at 116 ("Considering the international context, the heavy burden on the alien defendant, and the slight interests of the plaintiff and the forum states, the exercise of personal jurisdiction . . . would be unreasonable and unfair."). McGuire has a sufficient forum – the U.K. – and this Court should direct them to that courthouse to litigate this matter.

McGuire – attempting to again shift the burden to Betfred Int'l – claims that Betfred Int'l "did not identify any conflict of law that would make it unreasonable for a Nevada court to resolve this dispute." (AOB at 34.) The difference between litigating this dispute in the United States as opposed to the U.K. is foundational – the American Rule of attorney's costs and fees is well-established as opposed to the English Rule. *See Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 91, 127 P.3d 1057, 1063 (2006). It would constitute a matter of first impression in Nevada whether a contractual choice-of-law provision selecting U.K. law is sufficient to create a fee shifting arrangement under a contract such that the English Rule applies.¹⁰ It cannot be reasonable and just for Betfred Int'l to litigate here in Nevada and be required to

¹⁰ Compare RLS Assoc., LLC v. United Bank of Kuwait PLC, 464 F.Supp.2d 206 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (concluding the English Rule of fees and costs applies under New York substantive law), with Deutcshe Bank Trust Co. v. American General Life Ins. Co., 2016 WL 5719783, at *14 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2016) (concluding the English Rule of fees and costs does not apply under New York substantive law).

establish new Nevada law while defending against McGuire's specious claims on this terminated LOI with only a single Nevada contact.

C. The District Court Correctly Found Jurisdictional Discovery was Unnecessary Because the Evidence Submitted was "Exhaustive."

Nevada law requires plaintiffs to put forth more than conclusory allegations in a complaint for this Court to conclude a district court abused its discretion when it denied jurisdictional discovery. *See Viega GmbH*, 130 Nev. at 382, 328 P.3d at 1160 (explaining that jurisdictional discovery is not warranted where plaintiffs fail to allege facts that would indicate that Nevada courts might have jurisdiction over defendants); *see also Tricarichi*, 135 Nev. at 98 n.15, 440 P.3d at 654 n.15.

This is the requirement for jurisdictional discovery across the country. *See*, *e.g.*, *Dever v. Hentzen Coatings, Inc.*, 380 F.3d 1070, 1074 (8th Cir. 2004) ("When a plaintiff offers only speculation or conclusory assertions about contacts with a forum state, a court is within its discretion in denying jurisdictional discovery." (quoting *Carefirst of Maryland, Inc. v. Carefirst Pregnancy Ctrs., Inc.*, 334 F.3d 390, 402 (4th Cir. 2003)); *Regenexx, LLC v. Regenex Health LLC*, 446 F.Supp.3d 469, 467 n.2 (S.D. Iowa, 2020) ("A plaintiff is not entitled to jurisdictional discovery when he or she fails to rebut the defendants' assertions against jurisdiction and offers only conclusory allegations to support its claim that personal jurisdiction exists.").

There is no additional discovery needed for the 2018 G2E meeting as Betfred Int'l already furnished it and McGuire never rebutted it. Moreover, as for agency and alter ego, McGuire's claims are based on generic and general facts that merely indicate "the amount of control *typical in a parent-subsidiary relationship*." *Viega GmbH*, 130 Nev. at 380, 328 P.3d at 1160 (emphasis added). As McGuire has failed to allege any actual facts that would indicate a Nevada court possesses jurisdiction, there is no basis for this Court to conclude the district court abused its discretion in denying jurisdictional discovery. *See Club Vista Fin. Servs., LLC v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 128 Nev. 224, 228, 276 P.3d 246, 249 (2012); *see also Ellis v. Fortunate Seas, Ltd.*, 175 F.R.D. 308, 312 (S.D. Ind. 1997) (citing cases and holding "[i]t is reasonable for a court . . . to expect the plaintiff to show a colorable basis for jurisdiction before subjecting the defendant intrusive and burdensome discovery.")

1. McGuire failed to properly support its claims regarding the 2018 Nevada Meeting.

McGuire criticizes the district court for supposedly rejecting its counsel's contention – made at oral argument – that the parties supposedly discussed the prospects of Nevada business at the 2018 G2E meeting. But Nevada law does not require the district court to blindly comply with a naked contention of counsel but instead only mandates "accept[ing] *properly supported proffers* as true." *Tricarichi*, 135 Nev. at 91, 440 P.3d at 650 (emphasis added) (citing *Viega GmbH*, 130 Nev. at 374, 328 P.3d at 1156). McGuire's Complaint, McGuire's Opposition, Hutchinson's Declaration, and McGuire's Brief to this Court do not supply properly supported proffers regarding discussions at the 2018 G2E meeting about future Mohegan Tribe

sportsbook opportunities in Nevada. (See, e.g., JA0006 ¶ 33; JA0055 ¶ 22; JA0072

¶ 12; AOB at 23.)

This assertion was nothing but a self-serving last minute assertion by McGuire's counsel at oral argument which was contradicted by everything in the record, as Betfred Int'l explained:

there was an assertion [just] made about Las Vegas being discussed at this 2018 meeting, but you'll notice [Hutchinson] actually doesn't say that. And you know why [Hutchinson] doesn't say that in his declaration, Your Honor? It's because it was an impossibility because the tribe didn't even acquire, didn't even form its entity to acquire the gaming operations at the Virgin until 2019

So that is a nice sleight-of-hand by plaintiff but that's exactly what it is. So just simply saying, well there was a discussion that maybe there would be other opportunities elsewhere, it certainly didn't have anything to do with Nevada in 2018.

(See JA0171:5-16.)

The district court considered these arguments and agreed with Betfred Int'l that counsel's assertion was not properly supported. (JA0183 ¶ 9 ("[T]here is no evidence in the record that McGuire ever assisted Betfred Int'l or even discussed assisting Betfred Int'l in obtaining any business in Nevada.").) *See also Regenexx*, 446 F.Supp.3d at 467 n.2 ("[N]oting that the plaintiff did not provide any documentary evidence that provides any inference or additional contacts that the defendant might have with the forum state.... Plaintiff is not entitled to jurisdictional discovery." (cleaned up)).

2. The district court did not abuse its discretion by evaluating the intertwined merits and jurisdictional questions.

As for the district court evaluating whether the LOI terminated in October 2018 or in March 2019, McGuire claims "[t]he district court blundered by resolving a factual dispute rather than personal jurisdiction." (AOB 25.) Yet, there was no blunder here by the district court. It is McGuire who simply disregards the English language in the LOI when making its jurisdictional arguments.

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals addressed when it is proper for a district court to analyze intertwined and enmeshed jurisdictional and merits questions long ago. *See Data Disc., Inc. v. Systems Tech. Assoc., Inc.,* 557 F.2d 1280, 1285 n.2 (9th Cir. 1977). That Court explained that only after a plaintiff has provided sufficient prima facia evidence – a situation wholly absent here – can a plaintiff avoid a motion to dismiss. *See id.* But even if McGuire had overcome this hurdle it would

not necessarily mean that [it] may then go to trial on the merits. If the pleadings and other submitted materials raise issues of credibility or disputed questions of fact with regard to jurisdiction, the district court has the discretion to take evidence at a preliminary hearing in order to resolve the contested issues.

Id. The Ninth Circuit explained that "[w]here the jurisdictional facts are intertwined with the merits, a decision on the jurisdictional issues is dependent on a decision of the merits. In such a case, the district court could determine its jurisdiction in a plenary pretrial proceeding." *Id.* at 1285 n.2 (citing to *Land v. Dollar*, 330 U.S. 731, 735 (1947) ("[A]lthough as a general rule the District Court would have authority to

consider questions of jurisdiction on the basis of affidavits as well as the pleadings, this is the type of case where the question of jurisdiction is dependent on [a] decision of the merits." (footnote omitted)). McGuire's arguments challenging the resolution on the merits are therefore contrary to law and as discussed above, belied by the properly supported facts put forth by Betfred Int'l. (*See* JA0035-39 (Stebbings' Declaration); JA0041-42 (LOI); JA0044-45 (Hutchinson termination email).)

More importantly than the foundation laid by Betfred Int'l with its exhibits, McGuire never rebutted Hutchinson's email before the district court or on appeal. (*See, e.g.*, JA0050-68 (never addressing Hutchinson's email in McGuire's opposition); JA0071-76 (never addressing his email in Hutchinson's own declaration); *see generally* AOB (again failing to provide any rebuttal or explanation on appeal regarding the Hutchinson email).) Thus, there can be no dispute over the fact that Hutchinson's email confirmed the LOI terminated and McGuire's assistance to Betfred Int'l ceased.

D. The District Court Properly Dismissed this Case With Prejudice.

Finally, McGuire erroneously avers the district court resolved this matter on the merits. (*See* AOB 38-40.) McGuire confuses the issues here – the dismissal was one for personal jurisdiction, not the merits. If McGuire chooses to refile this matter in the U.K. where a competent court with jurisdiction can resolve this matter, it may still do so. Of course, McGuire will face the consequences under U.K. law for having advanced a baseless claim under an LOI it admitted terminated in its own emails back in 2018. But here, the district court did nothing but resolve the issue of personal jurisdiction over Betfred Int'l.

For instance, NRCP 41(b) details that when an involuntary dismissal is granted, "a dismissal under Rule 41(b) and any dismissal not under this rule—*except* one for lack of jurisdiction, improper venue, or failure to join party under Rule 19—operates as an adjudication on the merits." (Emphasis added); *see also* NRCP 41(e)(6) ("A dismissal under Rule 41(e) is a bar to another action upon the same claim for relief against the same defendants *unless* the court provides otherwise in its order dismissing the action." (emphasis added)).

This of course comports with the district court's order which it

conclude[d] that McGuire will never be capable of pleading any facts necessary to hale Betfred Int'l into a Nevada courthouse over the LOI, this Court denies McGuire's request for leave to amend its complaint and likewise dismisses this case with prejudice.

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